
TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 1 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

In attendance at Amherst Town Hall: Arnie Rosenblatt – Chair, Bill Stoughton – Board of 1 
Selectmen Ex-Officio, Chris Yates, Cynthia Dokmo, Tom Quinn, Tracie Adams, Tim Kachmar 2 
(alternate) and Pam Coughlin (alternate) 3 
 4 
Staff present: Nic Strong, Community Development Director; and Kristan Patenaude, Recording 5 
Secretary (via Zoom) 6 
 7 
Arnie Rosenblatt called the meeting to order at 7:00pm.  8 
 9 
PUBLIC HEARING(S): 10 

1. CASE #: PZ16540-102822 - James & Shelley Lacaillade (Owners & Applicants); 27 11 
Bloody Brook Road, PIN #: 005-140-002 & Charles & Kathleen Wason (Owners & 12 
Applicants), 29 Bloody Brook Road, PIN #: 005-140-001 – Subdivision Application, 13 
Lot Line Adjustment – To illustrate an equal area lot line adjustment between lots 14 
5-140-2 and 5-140-1. Zoned Residential Rural. 15 

Arnie Rosenblatt opened the hearing.  16 
 17 
Tim Kachmar sat for Tom Silvia. 18 
 19 

Tracie Adams moved to accept the application as complete. Seconded by Cynthia 20 
Dokmo.  21 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 22 

 23 
Tracie Adams moved no regional impact on this application. Seconded by Chris 24 
Yates.  25 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 26 

 27 
Arnie Rosenblatt stated that the Board will first hear from the applicant and will then have an 28 
opportunity for comment and/ or questions. The Board will then hear from any abutters or 29 
interested parties.  30 
 31 
Gregg Jeffrey, Jeffrey Land Surveying, representing Mr. James Lacaillade and Mr. Charles 32 
Wason, addressed the Board. He explained that this is a proposed lot line adjustment between 33 
two lots, #27 and #29, on Bloody Brook Road. The two applicants have entered harmoniously 34 
into an equal area lot line adjustment agreement to trade an equal 1,200 +/- s.f. to make the lot 35 
lines more conforming. These lots are, by today's standards, substandard as far as area, but this 36 
does not deal with a net change in the area of the lots. Area A is intended to go to Lot #27, and 37 
Area B is intended to go to #29. 38 
 39 
Tracie Adams stated that this looks to be an equal swap of land. This will help with the way the 40 
applicants want to utilize the land. Mr. Jeffrey stated that the intention is to make the lot lines 41 
conform to the line that is to be recorded on the deed.  42 
 43 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 2 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

In response to a question from Bill Stoughton regarding the staff report and the conditions listed, 44 
Mr. Jeffrey stated that he has no concern with the conditions and has already taken care of 45 
several items mentioned in the staff report. Mr. Jeffrey stated that he has brought in a revised 46 
plan and an updated abutter list.  47 
 48 
In response to a question from Tom Quinn, Nic Strong agreed that the abutters list was originally 49 
wrong when it was submitted but was corrected prior to notification for this hearing. 50 
 51 
Cynthia Dokmo, Chris Yates, Pam Coughlin, and Tim Kachmar had no questions or comments 52 
at this time. 53 
 54 

Tracie Adams moved to approve CASE #: PZ16540-102822 for James & 55 
Shelley Lacaillade & Charles & Kathleen Wason for the above cited lot line 56 
adjustment of Map 5 Lots 140-1 & 140-2, with frontage on Bloody Brook Road, with 57 
the conditions precedent and conditions subsequent listed in the staff report, as well 58 
as completion of any of the items listed on page three of the staff report. Seconded 59 
by Chris Yates.  60 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 61 

 62 
2. Public Hearing on Proposed Zoning Ordinance Amendments. See separate notice. 63 

Arnie Rosenblatt stated that there are a number of proposed amendments to the Amherst Zoning 64 
Ordinance. These items have already been discussed by the Planning Board and the purpose of 65 
this meeting is to have a public meeting to discuss the proposed language, to determine whether 66 
or not the Planning Board will move froward with the language as it exists. 67 
 68 

Bill Stoughton moved to enter into a Public Hearing on the proposed Zoning 69 
Ordinance Amendments. Seconded by Chris Yates.  70 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 71 

 72 
Arnie Rosenblatt stated that he does not believe there needs to be a discussion with respect to 73 
each of these items.  74 
 75 
Regarding the first item on signs, Bill Stoughton stated that Nic Strong and Town Counsel have 76 
added suggestions and considerations. Arnie Rosenblatt asked Nic Strong to review her 77 
suggestions. 78 
 79 
Nic Strong stated that, regarding the definition section for off-premises signs, on page 15, there 80 
was a recent US Supreme Court case that dealt with off-premises signs. The court upheld a 81 
definition from the city of Austin, saying that it was not content based. The New Hampshire 82 
Municipal Association suggested that towns in New Hampshire could also use that definition. 83 
She proposed that the Town consider using the Austin definition of off-premises sign, which 84 
reads as follows, “a sign advertising a business, person, activity, goods, products, or services not 85 
located on the site where the sign is installed, or that directs persons to any location not on that 86 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 3 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

site.” Nic Strong stated that, in Section H. Review and Appeals, the second sentence addressed 87 
getting a variance but did not convey the full scope of what the Board of Adjustment should do 88 
for a variance. She suggested striking the second sentence completely. Nic Strong stated that, 89 
under Existing Non-conforming Signs, in the first sentence to change “a sign” to “any sign.” In 90 
Section K.4, to add commercial banners to the exception, as these are allowed in the table further 91 
in the ordinance. Regarding Section I., Exempt Signs, 5.C., Nic Strong noted that this states that 92 
one open flag per building is allowed. She asked what would happen in a multi-unit building that 93 
may have different businesses with different open hours. Nic Strong stated that, in the table 94 
under Business Sign District, she would suggest striking the word ‘portable’ in a ‘portable 95 
sandwich board’, as, previously, portable signs have been prohibited. 96 
 97 
Nic Strong stated that Scott Tenney, Building Inspector, suggested, in Section O. Sign Standards, 98 
1.B. that the language require clearly legible property street numbers of the sign location to be 99 
installed on the sign. He currently requests that of applicants to make it easier to find properties 100 
when driving around and would like it to be codified. In the same section, item C. Scott Tenney 101 
also suggests referring to the Building Code, as there is a section on wind design requirements, 102 
rather than including a specific wind rating requirement. Thus, the language would read, “all 103 
freestanding signs shall be designed and constructed in conformance with wind design 104 
requirements contained in the Building Code.” Scott Tenney’s next suggestion is that item H. of 105 
the same section refer to the Building Code, instead of the BOCA Code, which is outdated. 106 
Regarding illumination, Scott Tenney suggested, instead of referring to LED's, using language 107 
that any sign illumination source shall be of an energy efficient design. 108 
 109 
Bill Stoughton stated that, Town Counsel suggested, in Section B. Content of Signs, to strike the 110 
parenthetical of the single example, and make it clear that unprotected speech is prohibited in the 111 
Town of Amherst, regardless of the type. In Section I. Violations and Penalties, there is a general 112 
reference to the RSA's and Counsel suggests that it identify RSAs including, but not limited to, 113 
RSA 676:15 and RSA 676:17. In Section O. General Science Standards, Counsel suggests 114 
adding “…as, for example by…” at the end of the existing sentence, and then continue on with 115 
the following sentence, as the following sentence lists examples of ways in which rural character 116 
can be maintained. In Section P. Sign Master Plans, Counsel suggests that it be made clear that 117 
one of the intents of this section is to protect the public welfare and safety. Bill Stoughton stated 118 
that he agrees with suggestions made by Town Counsel. 119 
 120 
There were no additional comments or question from the Board. Arnie Rosenblatt asked for 121 
public comment. 122 
 123 
Dave Williams, 56 County Road, regarding Section M. Temporary Signs and Item 2. Temporary 124 
Signs Other than on Town Property, stated that he is concerned about political campaign signs. A 125 
construction or maintenance project would be allowed one sign, 4 s.f., but additional ground-126 
mounted signs coinciding with a political campaign or other matters which residents may vote on 127 
are allowed up to 32 s.f. He asked for clarification on the number of signs that would be allowed. 128 
Bill Stoughton explained that a landowner could have any number of signs totaling no more than 129 
32 s.f. Typical signs during campaign season are 3 s.f., so there could be 10, in that case. 130 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 4 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

Regarding public right of ways, there is a separate section of the ordinance which addresses signs 131 
on adjacent roads. Signs are not allowed on the traveled way of roads. With the abutting 132 
landowners’ permission, signs can be allowed, provided they are 3’ feet off the traveled way of 133 
the road. Dave Williams asked if there could be 15 signs on an intersection from different 134 
political candidates, as long as they adhere to all of the rules in the ordinance. Bill Stoughton 135 
stated that this would generally require the permission of the landowner abutting that 136 
intersection. He suspects this is not often followed though. 137 
 138 

Bill Stoughton moved to incorporate the changes discussed by Nic Strong and Town 139 
Counsel, and then hold a second public hearing to address those changes. Seconded 140 
by Chris Yates.  141 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 142 

 143 
The Board noted that it would discuss a date certain for this second public hearing later in the 144 
meeting. 145 
 146 
Arnie Rosenblatt stated that proposed amendment #2 deals with reduced frontage lots. He asked 147 
Nic Strong to discuss her suggestions to this item. 148 
 149 
Nic Strong stated that, Section B currently says that, “in the event multifamily dwellings are 150 
permitted in the District, the minimum reduced frontage lot size below shall be increased in 151 
proportion to the number of dwelling units allowed.” She suggested more specific language, 152 
“…shall be multiplied by the number of dwelling units allowed.”  153 
 154 
Bill Stoughton stated that he and Nic Strong tried to make changes to address Counsel’s 155 
concerns. In paragraph A, regarding the maximum number of reduced frontage lots allowed, to 156 
add the word ‘original’ before ‘lot’ in several locations, for clarity. In paragraph C, next to last 157 
line, replace the word ‘may’ with the word ‘shall.’  158 
 159 
There were no questions or comments from the Board at this time. There was no public comment 160 
at this time. 161 
 162 
Arnie Rosenblatt asked Bill Stoughton if he believes the proposed changes to be substantive. Bill 163 
Stoughton agreed that these changes should be incorporated, and a second public hearing held. 164 
 165 

Bill Stoughton moved to incorporate the reduced frontage lot changes in 166 
amendment 2 and proceed to a second public hearing to address those changes. 167 
Seconded by Chris Yates.  168 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 169 

 170 
The Board noted that it would discuss a date certain for this second public hearing later in the 171 
meeting. 172 
 173 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 5 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

A member of the public noted that he did not hear the Chair ask for public comment regarding 174 
the reduced frontage lot item. Other members of the public agreed that this was not made clear. 175 
 176 
Brad Westgate, lawyer with Winer & Bennett, LLP, representing Kevin and Claudine Curran, 177 
addressed the Board. He stated that his clients have appeared before the Board previously on 178 
design review applications that contemplate reduced frontage lot subdivisions. He stated that he 179 
was relieved to see the comment made, relative to the insertion of the word ‘combined lot.’ He 180 
stated that he believes the Board needs better definitions relative to lot size in the Subdivision 181 
Regulations Section 213.2 E. He has submitted a letter to the Community Development Director 182 
with additional comments about this item. He stated that he does not believe the changes 183 
proposed address the purposes set forth in the proposed amendment. The Board has noted that it 184 
is trying to address the ambiguity in the Subdivision Regulations, but the only changes proposed 185 
are to the Zoning Ordinance. There are no ambiguities in the Zoning Ordinance, but the Board 186 
has wrestled with Section 213.2 E. of the Subdivision Regulations which pertain to reduced 187 
frontage lots and parcel size. He stated that he is unsure if the Board is contemplating 188 
amendments to that Subdivision Regulation, but he would assume it was, if the goal is to clarify 189 
the two acre versus ten-acre lot distinction in the Rural Residential District. The basic purpose of 190 
this section of the ordinance is to preserve open space, wildlife habitat, and wildlife corridors. 191 
One of the dimensional changes proposed is to effectively double the lot size for a reduced 192 
frontage lot in the Northern District and, to change from two to five acres in the Rural 193 
Residential District.  194 
 195 
Brad Westgate, Esq., expressed concern regarding the setback provisions and the lot separation 196 
provisions. In the proposed amendments, structures on reduced frontage lots are required to have 197 
a 300’ setback from a road, however, on a two-acre lot it can be 50’. The proposal will place 198 
more development in the rear of reduced frontage lots, contradicting the very purpose for 199 
adopting these amendments, which is to preserve the back area of a lot for wetland and habitat 200 
purposes. A regular lot may have a better backyard for habitat preservation than a reduced 201 
frontage lot, even though the reduced frontage lot is bigger. Reduced frontage lots must have at 202 
least 50’ of frontage but this could be 100’ of frontage, and in those cases it might be logical for 203 
the house to be closer to the road than 300’. Lastly, relative to the cul-de-sac requirements, the 204 
reduced frontage lot dimensions have been tied to compliance with the cul-de-sac, based on the 205 
existing road design criteria that the Board has adopted. A waiver can be sought from the Board 206 
for a different cul-de-sac design, but the applicant would then have to go to the Zoning Board for 207 
a variance from the amended zoning provision, which states that reduced frontage lots in a cul-208 
de-sac must only tie to the roadway design criteria. This would be a very difficult process. 209 
Subsection D, regarding separation of reduced frontage lots needs clarified language, as it 210 
contemplates a common driveway for two reduced frontage lots so long as they meet all other 211 
criteria in the ordinance, but they cannot meet all the other criteria in the ordinance because they 212 
cannot be touching each other, as previously mentioned in the ordinance.  213 
 214 
There was no other public comment at this time.  215 
 216 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 6 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

Bill Stoughton stated that he appreciates Attorney Westgate’s concerns, but he believes the 217 
language, as proposed, is clear. He noted that regulation changes have already been drafted and 218 
will be proposed if these amendments pass.  219 
 220 

Bill Stoughton moved to adopt the changes the Board previously discussed for 221 
reduced frontage lots and proceed to a second public hearing to address those 222 
changes. Seconded by Chris Yates.  223 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 224 

 225 
Arnie Rosenblatt stated that proposed amendment #3 deals with adding language to the 226 
minimum lot frontage requirements for scenic roads and to add additional language. Nic Strong 227 
noted that she has no proposed changes to this item. Arnie Rosenblatt asked to hear Town 228 
Counsel’s proposed changes. 229 
 230 
Bill Stoughton stated that Town Counsel suggested, in paragraph B, regarding a voluntary 231 
establishment of a 50’ buffer, that it be made clear this is a vegetative buffer. He stated that he 232 
agrees with this clarification. Tracie Adams also agreed. 233 
 234 
Arnie Rosenblatt asked for public comment at this time. 235 
 236 
Dave Williams, 56 County Road, noted that, at a previous Board meeting, he made reference to 237 
the Master Plan survey which showed that 91% of respondents believed that protecting open 238 
space and natural resources of the Town was either a high priority or the highest priority. 239 
Protecting scenic roads is a good place to start. While the Board does not govern by the Master 240 
Plan, it does govern by the regulations and ordinances, and this ordinance amendment suggests 241 
changes for scenic roads which will help address the wishes of Amherst citizens. He agreed with 242 
placing this on the ballot in March to let the public decide. 243 
 244 
Jason Sorens, 13 Cricket Hill Drive, asked if the Board has investigated how many lots along 245 
these scenic roads will be rendered unbuildable, or un-subdividable as a result of this change. 246 
This proposes a very significant frontage requirement. If a lot is rendered completely 247 
unbuildable, this is a substantial taking of private property rights, potentially actionable under the 248 
4th Amendment. This is a substantial reduction in property values for those landowners, opening 249 
an issue of equity, as well as an issue of addressing the shortage of housing of various types in 250 
this Town. He asked whether a cost/benefit analysis has been completed, showing the value of 251 
scenery relative to the substantial taking of private property. Scenic roads do have value, and this 252 
should be protected. Frontage requirements and minimum lot area requirements are not 253 
necessarily the best planning tools to ensure scenic value and conservation. Purchase of 254 
conservation easements, vegetated buffers, or a form-based code could be useful. A frontage 255 
requirement does not prevent someone from logging the property and creating a massive lawn. 256 
The Board should consider the value of scenery relative to the substantial losses to private 257 
property as a result of this proposal. 258 
 259 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 7 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

Beth Sullivan, Village Woods, stated that property value also needs to consider access to water. 260 
She stated that she believes her property values would go down significantly without the 261 
availability of well water. Someone nearby had to dig 450’ recently to install a well. She 262 
expressed concern regarding massive amounts of housing and infrastructure. She noted that, if 263 
taxes become unaffordable in Town, this also makes property far less valuable as it will be 264 
difficult to sell it.  265 
 266 
Sally Wilkins, Green Road, stated that, both the reduced frontage amendment as proposed and 267 
this amendment as proposed, are quite exclusionary in design, as well as in effect. She asked if 268 
the Board has discussed with Town Counsel whether he is prepared to defend these items. It 269 
seems that at least part, if not the entire intent of this, is to reduce the number of homes that can 270 
be built in Town. She stated that she owns a lot of land on scenic roads and would be directly 271 
impacted by this proposal. She asked about the 50’ buffer that is expected to be natural 272 
vegetation and noted that it would be helpful if there was associated language excluding invasive 273 
plants from that natural vegetated buffer. The Conservation Commission has been chasing 274 
invasives throughout Town but has nowhere near the means to control it.  275 
 276 
Brad Knight, Upham Road, stated that there is no question that the voters will approve these 277 
amendments. Limiting this to scenic roads, puts the impact on those with property along scenic 278 
roads. If this is going to be considered, it should be done Town-wide. It seems unreasonable to 279 
place all this loss of value on only the people with property along scenic roads. This will increase 280 
the size of the lots, or reduce the number of lots, along these roads. There are other ways to 281 
achieve this through zoning. He does not believe this will stand up in court.  282 
 283 
There was no other public comment at this time. 284 
 285 
Arnie Rosenblatt asked if Bill Stoughton considers the one change proposed to be substantive 286 
enough to defer a vote on this item until the next public hearing. Bill Stoughton agreed that he 287 
would consider it to be. Arnie Rosenblatt stated that he will defer his comments until that 288 
meeting. He noted that there is a lot of consideration currently regarding the need for more 289 
housing, the legislation that will be in support of housing, and the judicial precedent to support 290 
housing. While he wholeheartedly supports this idea, he noted that Sally Wilkins also makes a 291 
valid point. 292 
 293 

Tracie Adams moved to forward this proposed amendment  to a second public 294 
hearing, with the changes as recommended. Seconded by Tom Quinn.  295 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 296 

 297 
Arnie Rosenblatt stated that proposed amendment #4 deals with adding a new section of road to 298 
the list of roads that require a scenic setback. Bill Stoughton noted that the Board has not yet 299 
discussed this item. This is not a petition article yet. A number of the amendments the Board is 300 
considering had a genesis in proposals from citizens.  301 
 302 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 8 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

Nic Strong explained that, at a previous meeting, the Board was discussing items to be scheduled 303 
for this evening. There was significant confusion with a proposal to be presented that appeared to 304 
deal with designating scenic roads. This suggestion, to add a road section for scenic setback, got 305 
mixed up in that conversation and so was added to the agenda for this evening. Additionally, 306 
there were actually two segments of road that were being suggested. In addition to Boston Post 307 
Road from the intersection of Boston Post Road and Mont Vernon Roads to the Mont Vernon 308 
town line, is Old Mont Vernon Road, from the intersection of Old Mont Vernon Road and New 309 
Boston Road to the Mont Vernon town line.  310 
 311 
Tim Kachmar requested a more detailed presentation on this item.  Nic Strong shared her screen 312 
to show the map in question. 313 
 314 
Will Ludt, 3 School Street, explained that the Heritage Commission put all the verbiage in 315 
Section 3.11 onto a map, in order to see where the scenic roads and scenic setbacks are located. 316 
The only scenic setbacks proposed to be added are a section of Old Mont Vernon Road, from the 317 
intersection of New Boston Road and Boston Post Road. This is a unique area located between 318 
conservation land and worthy of having a scenic setback.  319 
 320 
Tracie Adams confirmed that this proposal was generated by the Heritage Commission. She 321 
stated that she does not have further comment at this time. 322 
  323 
Cynthia Dokmo stated that she has similar feelings to this proposal as she does regarding the 324 
previous amendment, so she will address them both at the next public hearing.  325 
 326 
Bill Stoughton asked if the Heritage Commission formally voted to recommend this item to the 327 
Board. Will Ludt stated that the Commission did not hold a formal vote, but it was discussed at 328 
the last meeting, and everyone seemed to be in agreement. The Commission is also working on 329 
one or two petitions for scenic roads. Bill Stoughton expressed concern that the public and 330 
people who live on those roads have not had an adequate opportunity to be heard from. He is 331 
reluctant to advance this item, without knowing that the public has had an opportunity to be 332 
heard. Will Ludt stated that he believed scenic setback additions needed to have a petition with 333 
25 signatures, but scenic setbacks do not require notification to abutters. Bill Stoughton 334 
acknowledged the formal requirements, but still expressed concern. 335 
 336 
Chris Yates, Tom Quinn, Tim Kachmar, and Pam Coughlin agreed with Bill Stoughton’s 337 
concerns.  338 
 339 
Arnie Rosenblatt stated that the other provisions being considered were discussed exhaustively in 340 
public meetings, where people had an opportunity to participate. That is not true with this 341 
proposal. The Board can choose to defer it to the next public hearing, or for another year. 342 
 343 
Bill Stoughton stated that he would like this item to be deferred for a year, absent a petition. This 344 
needs more discussion. Will Ludt noted that he tried his hardest to get this item onto the last 345 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 9 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

agenda and was advised to bring it to this meeting. Cynthia Dokmo agreed with Bill Stoughton’s 346 
suggestion for deferral. 347 
 348 

Bill Stoughton moved to defer proposed Planning Board amendment #4 to a future 349 
election and not to move forward with it this year. Seconded by Cynthia Dokmo.  350 
 351 
Discussion: 352 
Arnie Rosenblatt stated that he is personally uncomfortable moving forward with 353 
this because he does not yet have a full understanding of the impact. This could be a 354 
good idea, but it needs to be evaluated and discussed. 355 
 356 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 357 
 358 

Arnie Rosenblatt stated that proposed amendment #5 deals with outdoor lighting and glare. Nic 359 
Strong stated that she had no comments regarding this item. It was noted that Town Counsel’s 360 
concern was already addressed under Section J. 361 
 362 
Arnie Rosenblatt asked for public comment. 363 
 364 
Sally Wilkins, Green Road, stated that she has been trying to get this passed for 20 years. 365 
Regarding Section E., that there shall be no lighted fixtures on building exteriors higher than 20’ 366 
from the ground, some people have lights on the second floor of the gable end of their house, 367 
which is more than 20’ off the ground. She suggested that, if appropriately shielded, these could 368 
be allowed. Bill Stoughton agreed with this suggestion. 369 
 370 
Tim Kachmar suggested provisions to say that these lights could be any height, if pointing 371 
directly down towards the ground. Arnie Rosenblatt stated that he would like to include a height 372 
requirement. He suggested 30’ from the ground level. 373 
 374 

Bill Stoughton moved to adopt the change to Section E., in the introductory 375 
paragraph, to change 20’ to 30’, and to move forward with that change to a second 376 
public hearing. Seconded by Cynthia Dokmo.  377 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 378 

 379 
Arnie Rosenblatt stated that proposed amendment #6 deals with modifications for language in 380 
the Industrial Zone. Nic Strong stated that she had no comments regarding this item.  381 
 382 
Cynthia Dokmo stated that Town Counsel has a concern regarding enforcement of this item. 383 
There is language included that empowers code enforcement officers and public safety officials 384 
to enforce this provision. Code enforcement officers was added specifically to include the Police 385 
Department.  386 
 387 
Arnie Rosenblatt stepped out of the meeting and asked Tracie Adams to continue as Chair. 388 
 389 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 10 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that, regarding item B.10., abutters suggested this prohibition also be 390 
included in the Residential Zone and Rural Residential Zone. She stated that she disagrees. She 391 
noted that the Planning Board is not responsible for activities on public roads; this is the duty of 392 
the Selectmen. The Planning Board may discuss the placement of a road, but the activity on the 393 
road is not the purview of the Planning Board. She suggested that item B.10. be amended to read, 394 
“any use that results in off-site parking of vehicles, while such vehicles await access to the site or 395 
otherwise…” then to strike everything until, “…if the vehicle violates the internal combustion 396 
engine idling time limits of section 4-9. E-8.” Also, the paragraph that discusses the New 397 
Hampshire Administrative Rule which sets down the provisions for idling and the conditions 398 
under which vehicles can idle, needs to be more specific. The rule should be referenced 399 
specifically.  400 
 401 
Bill Stoughton stated that many residents submitted concerns that he is trying to address using 402 
language that restricts any off-site parking, with permission, to Commercial and Industrial zones. 403 
This paragraph regulates a use that occurs within the Industrial Zone. It limits and prohibits any 404 
use within that Zone, that results in the following items listed. It is important for the Board to 405 
have that authority, because with it, the Planning Board can include conditions on an approval. 406 
He is not suggesting that the Board has authority over activities on roadsides in Town. He stated 407 
that he believes it is important for the Board to have the ability to discuss with the applicant and 408 
enforce potential changes that deal with this issue.  409 
 410 
Cynthia Dokmo agreed that the Board should have the authority and responsibility of the use of a 411 
property, but she does not believe the Planning Board has the power to regulate activity on 412 
public roads. This is the authority of the Selectmen. She suggested that Town Counsel review 413 
this language. Arnie Rosenblatt noted that all of these items have been run by Town Counsel. 414 
Cynthia Dokmo stated that she does not have a problem with the proposed language but does not 415 
believe the Planning Board has the authority. 416 
 417 
Chris Yates stated that the goal of item 10 is to prevent trucks and vehicles from parking on the 418 
roadway. He noted that he saw many trucks sitting on the edge of several of these roads today. 419 
He suggested adding verbiage to have an applicant include signage for ‘No Parking.’ Cynthia 420 
Dokmo stated that this would be up to the Selectmen, as public roads are their domain. 421 
 422 
Bill Stoughton stated that he would like to leave the proposed language as changed in the last 423 
paragraph. He stated that his argument is that the Board is not regulating what happens on the 424 
roads, but instead the use in the Industrial Zone. This is a tool that allows the Board to impose 425 
conditions on an applicant that lessen the likelihood of an offsite parking issue. 426 
 427 
Tim Kachmar stated that he believes the proposed language prohibits any business from having 428 
vehicles idling. The proposed language would prevent a business, such as a repair shop, from 429 
having idling vehicles as part of their services. He is concerned that this language limits what 430 
types of business are allowed in the Industrial and Commercial Zones.  431 
 432 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 11 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

Chris Yates stated that the provision wants to ensure that applicants have appropriate parking for 433 
incoming and outgoing vehicles. Applicants would have to have enough space on their property 434 
for vehicles, instead of allowing them on the edge of the public roadway. 435 
 436 
Tim Kachmar stated that he believes this limits what type of businesses are allowed. He 437 
understands that the goal is to get trucks off the public way. 438 
 439 
Tom Quinn questioned whether this section is needed at all because, if the Board is doing its job 440 
properly, it should not approve projects that anticipate a lot of truck traffic being stacked up on 441 
side streets. This should be handled in the application process.  442 
 443 
Tim Kachmar suggested language that all vehicle use must be on site. 444 
 445 
Cynthia Dokmo stated that State regulations already prohibit idling for a long period of time. 446 
This proposal is to reinforce that there is a concern regarding trucks idling and clogging the roads 447 
in the Commercial and Industrial Zones, however, it is not the Planning Board’s authority to 448 
regulate activity on a public road. She agreed that there should not be off-site parking issues if 449 
the Planning Board does its job correctly during the application phase.  450 
 451 
Tom Quinn noted that he was referring to the parking section being struck, not necessarily the 452 
idling. He noted that this item is unenforceable by the Planning Board. 453 
 454 
Cynthia Dokmo noted that it would be the job of the Selectmen to enforce this.  455 
 456 
Arnie Rosenblatt asked for public comment. 457 
 458 
Skip Dalton, 14 Summerfield Way, stated that his concern regarding the original wording for this 459 
item, was that it would open the door to allowing the Bon Terrain facility proposal. Most of this 460 
amendment #6 deals with that proposal. Either suggestion for wording made by the Board seems 461 
to do the job of not allowing the developer and owner of Lot 26-2 to be able to use that 15-acre 462 
residential lot as a parking lot. He stated that he prefers Bill Stoughton’s proposal as it deals with 463 
prohibiting parking on residential land and puts the developer on notice that adequate parking is 464 
required.  465 
 466 
Sally Wilkins, Green Road, stated that she believes B.10. could be accomplished by adding 467 
loading and unloading to E.9. The ordinance already states that a lot has to have adequate 468 
parking to avoid delivery trucks parking on the side of the road. If loading and unloading was 469 
added to that section, it will require an industrial use yard to have adequate stacking and area for 470 
tractor trailers. The Board seems to be trying to regulate use in residential areas in the Industrial 471 
Zone. The Board could have a prohibition for off-site parking facilities in the Rural Residential 472 
Zone instead. Her other concern is that a 100’ setback/vegetated buffer, plus an earthen berm 473 
sufficient to attenuate noise, would likely come close to 125’, which would be a significant 474 
taking on a one-acre lot. 475 
 476 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 12 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

Barbara Staffiere, 9 Crystal Lane, stated that she is a neighbor of the Industrial lot being 477 
discussed. She noted that, in a town she previously resided in, the residential neighborhoods are 478 
inundated with tractor trailers. She stated that she prefers Bill Stoughton’s suggestions for B.10. 479 
This gives the Board some authority to ask questions of an applicant regarding the proposed use. 480 
Regarding Section 4.9.E #4, she asked the Board to reconsider a 40’ height requirement across 481 
all of Amherst. Neighboring towns have done something similar already. 482 
 483 
Attorney Morgan Hollis, Gottesman & Hollis, P.A., stated that he represents the owner of 484 
property located in the Bon Terrain Industrial Park, in particular identified as Lot 2-26 and Lot 485 
34 on Howe Drive. Both of these properties will be significantly impacted by the proposed 486 
language, in particular the amendment to Section 4.9.E.3, requiring a 100’ landscaped buffer 487 
from the lot line of Residential Zone or existing residential use, and earthen berm topped by 488 
noise attenuation panels. This is the only area of the proposed amendments that his clients have 489 
an objection to. This ordinance change will affect all industrial land in Town. A great deal of that 490 
industrial land is already developed, but this will affect even developed land, in that the current 491 
regulations have a 10’ setback and this is now proposed to be a 100’ setback. This does not only 492 
impact Lot 26, which has a lot of focus on it, but all industrial land which abuts any residential 493 
land. Other, similar lots in Town, will not be allowed any development within 100’ of their 494 
residential neighbors, while these lots likely already have structures that are much closer than 495 
this. Additions to these structures will require a variance from the Zoning Board.  496 
 497 
Attorney Hollis explained that Lot 2-26 has residential neighbors to the west, with subdivided 498 
and condominium lots, and an abutting 12-acre residential lot, which is also owned by his client. 499 
Currently, under Article 5 of the Site Plan Regulations, Section 5.5 Landscape Buffers, requires a 500 
buffer 10’ wide and 6’ high. This also requires screening visibility for certain uses, such as 501 
loading areas and refuse collection. The screening mechanisms may be berms, fences, or 502 
landscaping, and have to be a certain minimum height. Section 5.7.A., requires landscaping 503 
along all sides of a parking lot or an access way abutting adjoining property, at least 10’ in width 504 
between the paved area and the abutting property lines, and at least one tree every 30’ of the 505 
landscape strip. The proposed change is to move from a 10’ wide buffer to a 100’ wide buffer the 506 
entire length. This ordinance does not make any differential as to whether these are properties in 507 
Hollis or Amherst. The ordinance affects Amherst properties but some of these abut residential 508 
properties in Hollis, and this will also impact those properties. He asked the Board to consider 509 
inserting a specific reference to abutting Amherst residential properties. The Town is not in the 510 
business of passing legislation which impacts, either positively or negatively, the next town over. 511 
 512 
Attorney Hollis stated that, in addition to the 100’ wide area, there is a requirement that a berm 513 
be established with noise attenuation panels. Noise attenuation panels, however, are not defined 514 
in this, or any part of the Zoning Ordinance. Thus, one is left to guess the definition of such. 515 
There is no set height specified for the berm or the attenuation panels. He stated that this 516 
ordinance seems to reflect that the committee ran out of time. The attenuation is to attenuate 517 
visual, light, and noise, as determined by the Planning Board. The definition of ‘attenuation’ in 518 
the Oxford Dictionary is, “the reduction of the force, effect, or value of something.” It is left to 519 
the Planning Board to determine if a proposal properly attenuates, without proper definition of 520 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 13 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

such. He urged the Board to consider specific language, as applicants will wonder whether or not 521 
proposed berms and the attenuation panels are adequate. He expressed concern regarding visual 522 
attenuation, as attenuation of a 40’-50’ high building with a berm, fence, etc., could be 523 
confusing. He believes the section regarding the berm and attenuation panels is vague and could 524 
be declared void, as a matter of law.  525 
 526 
Attorney Hollis stated that, in regard to the parcel in Bon Terrain which has generated a majority 527 
of the discussion, the nearest Peacock Brook condominium was measured at 700’, and the 528 
nearest single-family residential property was measured at 350’. Per this proposal, a berm would 529 
have to be 5,200’ long, for anyone to do anything on this lot. Depending on the height of the 530 
attenuation, if there is a 3:1 slope, this would require a berm that could be 100’+ in width, 531 
potentially taking 200’.  The proposed change of 10’ to 100’ is a substantial impact on his client. 532 
If a berm is added, this could be up to 250’. He stated that he respects the neighbors to this 533 
property, and their concern that there could be a 50’ high building located 10’ from the property 534 
line, under the current ordinance. As a result, his client does not want to fight against the 100’ 535 
proposed, although they feel it overkill along the westerly boundary line, given the distance to 536 
the residential properties. The Board reacted to the concern regarding the potential 10’ proximity 537 
of the proposed building away from the property line, and made it into something significantly 538 
different and overkill, in his opinion. There is already a 100’ setback established in the area, due 539 
to Peacock Brook. 540 
 541 
Attorney Hollis addressed the landscape standards. In the 10’ setback, the criteria are one tree 542 
every 30’. This seems to be a reasonable proportion of trees and shrubs. There are no standards 543 
for a 100’ landscape buffer. The language simply reads, to be in accordance with the Landscape 544 
Standards of the regulations. His client would prefer clarity on this item. 545 
 546 
Attorney Hollis concluded that, for the undeveloped lot on Howe Drive, with a 100’ buffer and 547 
the 100’ buffer setback to wetlands, a 1/4-acre lot is left. He said that there may be a way to 548 
tailor this proposal specifically to this area but warned the Board to be cautious with the 549 
wording. He stated that his client has no objection to the 100’ buffer from the property line of 550 
residential use or zoned area in the Town of Amherst. His client is opposed to the berm as it is a 551 
substantial impact on what can be done on that property. The Board needs to define what 552 
attenuation is and how it will determine if a proposal properly attenuates. The Board can already 553 
impose a berm as part of its regulations. But now, the Board is proposing to require a berm with 554 
no standards and impose it in an area, in addition to a 100’ buffered area. He urged the Board not 555 
to move forward with Section E.3.i.I., that states “between the 100’ vegetated buffer and any 556 
building, an earthen berm topped by a noise attenuation panel shall be constructed for visual, 557 
light, and noise attenuation. The heights of the earthen berm and noise panels shall be adequate 558 
for visual, light, and noise attenuation, as determined by the Planning Board. The Planning Board 559 
may allow breaks in the berm, if necessary, for emergency access, stormwater control, or 560 
otherwise, if the overall purposes of visual, light, and noise attenuation are maintained.” 561 
 562 
A resident noted that the concern was regarding the private property, without the property 563 
owners’ expressed consent, and to make sure that is not Residential Rural land. There was 564 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 14 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

concern about the ramifications of people parking on Rural Residential land anywhere within the 565 
Town. She stated that she trusts the Planning Board regarding properly determining the breaks 566 
and height for the berms and attenuation panels. These may change based on the property and the 567 
proposed use.  568 
 569 
Bill Stoughton clarified that there is a 100’ wetlands buffer along Peacock Brook. It is not the 570 
intention to have a total of 200’ of buffers; the wetlands buffer and the buffer required by the 571 
ordinance would overlap. He noted that the berm does not necessarily have to stretch the entire 572 
length of the lot perimeter. The berm has to be between the building and the 100’ perimeter. A 573 
small perimeter berm around the building may suffice. The berm must be between the building 574 
and the lot line. 575 
 576 
Arnie Rosenblatt asked what this means in practice. Bill Stoughton stated that it needs to meet 577 
the attenuation purposes, but a smaller perimeter closer to the building could meet that purpose.  578 
 579 
In response to a question from Chris Yates, Bill Stoughton stated that a louder activity may 580 
require a much different berm from a quiet activity. Chris Yates stated that he does not believe 581 
the intention of this was to run the full length of the property line. The intention of the berm was 582 
to put distance and noise attenuation between the industrial area and the residents. Bill Stoughton 583 
noted that it was not his intention to require a berm along the entire perimeter of a site. 584 
 585 
Arnie Rosenblatt asked about modifying the language for this item. Cynthia Dokmo noted that, 586 
as she believes was also stated by Sally Wilkins, this language affects not only the Industrial 587 
Zone, but other zones where there are public roads. Arnie Rosenblatt stated that he believed 588 
Sally Wilkins’ comment was that the impact from this was with respect to the Residential Zone, 589 
so this should be considered within that portion of the ordinance. Cynthia Dokmo stated that she 590 
believes this requires an overall prohibition somewhere else in the ordinance, or to put this 591 
prohibition in each zone, and that would be the responsibility of the Selectmen. Bill Stoughton 592 
stated that the Board can prohibit the off-site parking use in the other zones. Cynthia Dokmo 593 
stated that she believes activity on public roads is a Selectmen's responsibility. 594 
 595 
Arnie Rosenblatt stated that there has been extensive discussion and there does not appear to be 596 
consensus on this item. He asked if the Board believes that the language should be modified, 597 
based on comments from the public.  598 
 599 
Bill Stoughton stated that, per Sally Wilkins’ suggestion, he would agree to add language to 600 
paragraph 9, regarding adequate parking for loading, unloading, delivery, and pickup. He noted 601 
that Cynthia Dokmo suggested a correction to the citation for the regulatory provision in 602 
paragraph 8, and he would amend that as well. Nic Strong noted that, in other locations in the 603 
Zoning Ordinance it lists the New Hampshire Code of Administrative Rules, and this language 604 
could be included to be consistent.  605 
 606 
Arnie Rosenblatt asked if any Board members are swayed by Attorney Hollis’ argument that the 607 
language, with respect to berms, is too unclear and creates a risk of disputes between abutters 608 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 15 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

and applicants. Bill Stoughton stated that he believes this is worth considering, however, it could 609 
be addressed in the regulations instead, if needed.  610 
 611 
Tom Quinn stated that some vagueness is almost necessary because the Board will not know 612 
exactly what use will occur in the Industrial Zone. A use that is very noisy could require a much 613 
larger berm. This cannot be a specific, one-size-fits-all item. Applicants also always have the 614 
opportunity to seek a variance.  615 
 616 
Tim Kachmar stated that the discussion around this item originally included height restrictions, 617 
but the Board specifically agreed to remove that and leave the language vague, in order to 618 
interpret it per project. He suggested possibly clarifying the language regarding around the 619 
building perimeter or based on the use. 620 
 621 
Arnie Rosenblatt expressed concern regarding making major changes after this meeting. Bill 622 
Stoughton stated that he does not believe language changes are necessary at this point.  623 
 624 
Bill Stoughton asked Cynthia Dokmo for her proposed language on item 10. Cynthia Dokmo 625 
stated that she believes it should read, “any use that results in off-site parking of vehicles (while 626 
such vehicles await access to the site or otherwise), if the vehicle violates the internal 627 
combustion engine idling and time limits of Section 4.9.E8.” Bill Stoughton stated that he 628 
believes this language gives the Board tools to raise this item with the applicant and address it. 629 
 630 
Chris Yates stated that he prefers the vague language because different activities require different 631 
things. He suggested adding a containment of the activity, as the intent is to contain that noise or 632 
activity to the industrial area. For very noisy uses, some recommendations would not suffice. 633 
The requirements need to be based on the specific activity. He noted that the light piece is 634 
covered substantially in the lighting ordinance language; this really deals with noise and activity.  635 
 636 
Tracie Adams stated that she prefers flexible language, as applications are reviewed by the Board 637 
on a case-by-case situation.  638 
 639 

Bill Stoughton moved, with respect to proposed amendment #6, to adopt 640 
modifications to paragraph 8: to correct the citation form; to paragraph 9: to add 641 
“loading and unloading” to “delivery or pickup;” and to paragraph 10: to adopt 642 
language that, “any use that results in off-site parking of vehicles (while such 643 
vehicles await access to the site or otherwise), if the vehicle violates the internal 644 
combustion engine idling and time limits of Section 4.9.E8.” Seconded by Cynthia 645 
Dokmo.  646 
 647 
Discussion: 648 
Arnie Rosenblatt noted that this item will also be brought back for the next public 649 
hearing. 650 
 651 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 652 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 16 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

 653 
Arnie Rosenblatt stated that proposed amendment #7 deals with off-site improvements. Nic 654 
Strong stated that she had no comments on this item. Tom Quinn stated that Town Counsel’s 655 
only comment, under section N.3., is that he was glad to see that there was language requiring 656 
payment as a condition precedent.  657 
 658 
There was no public comment at this time. There were no questions or comments from the 659 
Board. 660 
 661 

Bill Stoughton moved to advance this item to the ballot. Seconded by Cynthia 662 
Dokmo.  663 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 664 

 665 
Arnie Rosenblatt stated that proposed amendment #8 deals with administration and the Zoning 666 
Board of Adjustment. Nic Strong stated that she has no comments regarding this item. Tim 667 
Kachmar noted that this deals with a change in State law.  668 
 669 
There was no public comment at this time. There were no questions or comments from the 670 
Board. 671 
 672 

Bill Stoughton moved to advance amendment #8 to the ballot. Seconded by Cynthia 673 
Dokmo.  674 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 675 
 676 

3. Public Hearing on Proposed Building Code Amendments. See separate notice. 677 

Arnie Rosenblatt stated that the next three items are amendments to the Amherst Building Code.  678 
 679 
There was no public comment at this time. There were no questions or comments from the 680 
Board. 681 
 682 
Bill Stoughton noted that Town Counsel suggested, under amendment #2, citing RSA 674:51 683 
additionally. The Board agreed that this was not a substantial enough change to bring this to an 684 
additional hearing.  685 
 686 

Bill Stoughton moved to advance proposed amendments 1, 2, and 3 to the Building 687 
Code to the ballot, with the amendment to the RSA citing. Seconded by Tom Quinn.  688 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 689 

 690 
The Board discussed timing for the next public hearing on these items. Nic Strong noted that the 691 
December 21st agenda includes a design review and the Brook Road conceptual, plus scheduling 692 
any petition zoning articles. Arnie Rosenblatt suggested scheduling this public hearing on 693 
January 4th, recognizing that the public hearing on the Master Plan will then need to be deferred 694 
by two weeks. Bill Stoughton suggested that a special meeting for the Master Plan could be held. 695 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Planning Board  
 
December 7, 2022  APPROVED 
 

Page 17 of 17  Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 

Arnie Rosenblatt suggested placing the Master Plan review on the January 18th agenda. Bill 696 
Stoughton noted that there must be a public hearing on any petitioned warrant articles on January 697 
4th.  698 
 699 

Tracie Adams moved to reschedule the Master Plan public hearing to January 18, 700 
2023. Seconded by Tom Quinn.  701 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 702 

 703 
Bill Stoughton moved to hold the second public hearing on the proposed zoning 704 
amendments on January 4, 2023, at 7pm, at Town Hall. Seconded by Chris Yates.  705 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 706 

 707 
OTHER BUSINESS:  708 

 709 
3. Minutes: November 16, 2022 710 

Discussion of these minutes was postponed to the next meeting. 711 
 712 

4. Any other business that may come before the Board  713 
 714 

Chris Yates moved to adjourn at 9:20pm. Seconded by Cynthia Dokmo.  715 
Motion carried unanimously 6-0-0. 716 

 717 
Respectfully submitted, 718 
Kristan Patenaude 719 
 720 
Minutes approved: December 21, 2022 721 


